NOT FOR CITATION WITHOUT PERMISSION OF AUTHOR

#205

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY OF SOURCES ON SOVIET AGRICULTURE

Kenneth R. Gray Professor of Economics North Texas State University

This bibliography is an edited and updated version of a bibliography originally published in <u>Agrarian Policies in Communist Europe: A Critical</u> <u>Introduction</u> (Allanheld Osmun & Co., 1982) by Karl-Eugen Wädekin. The entries marked by an asterisk (*) were added by the compilers, Kenneth R. Gray, Professor of Economics at North Texas State University, and David Crampton, Research Assistant at the Kennan Institute. Most of the new entries have appeared in the "Current Bibliography" sections of <u>The</u> Newsletter for Research on Soviet and East European Agriculture.

Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars

The following essay was prepared and distributed by the Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies as part of its Occasional Paper series. The series aims to extend Kennan Institute Occasional Papers to all those interested in Russian and Soviet studies and to help authors obtain timely feedback on their work. Occasional Papers are written by Kennan Institute scholars and visiting speakers. They are working papers presented at, or resulting from, seminars, colloquia, and conferences held under the auspices of the Kennan Institute. Copies of Occasional Papers and a list of Occasional Papers currently available can be obtained free of charge by writing to:

> Occasional Papers Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars Smithsonian Institution 955 L'Enfant Plaza, Suite 7400 Washington, D.C. 20560

The Kennan Institute for Advanced Russian Studies was established in 1975 as a program of the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars. The Kennan Institute was created to provide a center in Washington, D.C. where advanced research on Russia and the USSR could be pursued by qualified U.S. and foreign scholars, where encouragement and support could be given to the cultivation of Russian and Soviet studies throughout the United States, and where contact could be maintained with similar institutions abroad. The Kennan Institute also seeks to provide a meeting place for scholars, government officials and analysts, and other specialists on Russia and the Soviet Union. This effort to bridge the gap between academic and public affairs has resulted in novel and stimulating approaches to a wide range of topics. The Kennan Institute is supported by contributions from foundations, corporations, individuals, and the United States government.

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY OF SOURCES ON SOVIET AGRICULTURE

Contents

- I. General Works
 - A. Pre-Revolution
 - B. Post-Revolution
 - C. Collectivization
 - D. Post-Stalin
- II. Soviet Statistics, Research, and Education
- III. Individual Crops and Animal Production
- IV. Spatial Allocation and Regional Aspects
- V. Irrigation and Land Improvement
- VI. Incomes and Living Standards
- VII. Social and Demographic Patterns
- VIII. Agricultural Labor and Migration
 - IX. Capital and Technology
 - X. Agriculture in the Soviet Economy: General Works, Agro-Industrial Integration, Food Storage and Processing, Transport
 - XI. Socialist Farms
- XII. The Private Sector
- XIII. Directing Agriculture: Planning, Prices, Procurements, Administration
- XIV. Food Supply and Consumption
- *XV. Productivity
- *XVI. Trade and Embargoes
- *XVII. Quantitative Predictions

I. General Works

Adams, Arthur E., and Jan S. Adams. <u>Men versus Systems:</u> <u>Agriculture in the USSR, Poland, and Czechoslovakia</u>. New York: The Free Press, 1971.

Bergmann, Theodor. <u>The Development Models of India, the Soviet</u> <u>Union and China: A Comparative Analysis</u>. Assen, The Netherlands: van Gorcum, 1977.

Fallenbuchl, Zbigniew M., ed. <u>Sectoral Analysis</u>. Vol. 2 of <u>Economic Development in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe</u>. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1976.

Francisco, R. A., Betty A. Laird, and Roy D. Laird, eds. Agricultural Policies in the USSR and Eastern Europe. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

Jackson, W. A. Douglas, ed. <u>Agrarian Policies and Problems in</u> <u>Communist and Non-Communist Countries</u>. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1971.

*Johnson, Gale D., and Karen McConnell Brooks. <u>Prospects for Soviet</u> <u>Agriculture in the 1980s</u>. Bloomington, Ind.: Indiana University Press, 1983.

*Levine, Jerome A. <u>Agriculture in the United States and the</u> <u>Soviet Union</u>. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Services, 1968.

Lydolph, Paul E. <u>Geography of the USSR: Topical Analysis</u>, 57-103, 215-261. Elkhart Lake, Wis.: Misty Valley Publishing, 1979.

Symons, Leslie. <u>Russian Agriculture: A Geographic Survey</u>. London: Bell & Sons, 1972.

<u>USSR Agriculture Atlas</u>. Washington, D.C: Central Intelligence Agency, 1974.

Volin, Lazar. <u>A Century of Russian Agriculture: From Alexander II</u> to Khrushchev. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1970.

*Wädekin, Karl-Eugen, ed. <u>Current Trends in the Soviet and East</u> <u>European Food Economy</u>. Giessen Series, no. 113. Berlin: Dunker & Humbolt, 1982. Preface by E. Schinke and F. Ovazem.

I. A. General Works Pre-Revolution

Atkinson, Dorothy. "The Statistics on the Russian Land Commune, 1905-1917." <u>Slavic Review</u> 32 (1973): 4:773-87.

Blum, Jerome. Lord and Peasant in Russia from the Ninth to the Nineteenth Century. 2d ed. New York: Atheneum, 1964.

Gill, Graeme J. "The Failure of Rural Policy in Russia, February-October 1917". <u>Slavic Review</u> 37 (1978) 2:241-58.

Gill, Graeme J. "The Mainsprings of Peasant Action in 1917." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 30 (January 1978) 1:63-86. Cf. critique by John H. Kress, "The Political Consciousness of the Russian Peasantry: A Comment on Graeme Gill's 'The mainsprings of peasant action in 1917'," <u>Soviet Studies</u> 31 (October 1979) 4:574-80; and Gill's reply, Soviet Studies 32 (April 1980) 2:291-96.

*Gregory, Paul R. "The Russian Agrarian Crisis Revisited." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 21-31. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Haimson, L. H, ed. <u>The Politics of Rural Russia, 1905-1914</u>. Bloomington, Ind. and London: Indiana University Press, 1979.

Kimball, A. "The First International and the Russian Obshchina." Slavic Review 32 (1973) 3:491-514.

*Pavlovskii, Georgii Alekseevich. <u>Agricultural Russia on the Eve</u> of the Revolution. New York: H. Fertig, 1968.

Robinson, Geroid Tanquary. <u>Rural Russia under the Old Regime</u>. New York: Macmillan, 1967.

Simms, James Y., Jr. "The Crisis in Russian Agriculture at the End of the Nineteenth Century: A Different View." <u>Slavic Review</u> 36 (1977) 3:377-98.

I. B. General Works: Post-Revolution

<u>Agriculture of the Soviet Union: XIV International Conference of</u> Agricultural Economists. Minsk: Mir Publishers, 1970.

Dalrymple, Dana G. "The Soviet Famine of 1932-1934." <u>Soviet</u> Studies 15 (1964) 3:250-84 and 16 (1965) 4:471-74.

*Harrison, Mark. "Why Was NEP Abandoned?" In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> <u>Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 63-78. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Jasny, Naum. <u>The Socialized Agriculture of the USSR</u>. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press, 1949.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "Soviet Agriculture: A Balance Sheet." <u>Studies</u> on the <u>Soviet Union</u> 6 (April 1967) 4:108-45. Karcz, Jerzy F. "Thoughts on the Grain Problem." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 18 (April 1967) 4:399-434. Cf. <u>Soviet Studies</u> 22 (October 1970) 2:262-94.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "From Stalin to Brezhnev: Soviet Agricultural Policy in Historical Perspective." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Laird, Roy D, ed. <u>Soviet Agricultural and Peasant Affairs</u>. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963.

Laird, Roy D. "Lenin, Peasants and Agrarian Reform." In <u>Lenin and Leninism</u>, edited by B. W. Eissenstat, 173-82. Toronto and London: Lexington Books; and Lexington, Mass.: D. C. Heath & Co., 1971.

Laird, Roy D. and Betty A. Laird. <u>Soviet Communism and Agrarian</u> Reform. Harmondsworth, Middlesex: Penguin, 1970.

Lewin, Moshe. "'Taking grain': Soviet Policies of Agricultural Procurements before the War." In <u>Essays in Honour of E. H. Carr</u>, edited by C. Abramsky. London: Macmillan, 1974.

Male, D. J. <u>Russian Peasant Organization before Collectivization</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Matskevich, Vladimir. <u>Agriculture</u>. Moscow: Novosti Press Agency Publishing House, 1971.

Miller, Robert F. "The Politotdel: A Lesson from the Past." Slavic Review 25 (September 1966) 3:475-96.

Miller, Robert F. "Soviet Agricultural Policy in the Twenties: The Failure of Cooperation." Soviet Studies 22 (April 1975) 2:220-44.

Narkiewicz, O. A. "Stalin, War Communism and Collectivization." Soviet Studies 18 (July 1966) 1:20-37.

Shaffer, Harry G., ed. <u>Soviet Agriculture: An Assessment of Its</u> <u>Contributions to Economic Development</u>. New York and London: Praeger Publishers, 1977.

Shanin, Teodor. <u>The Awkward Class. Political Sociology of</u> <u>Peasantry in a Developing Society: Russia 1910-1925</u>. London: Oxford University Press, Clarendon Press, 1972.

Vechorshcherbovich, S., trans. from Russian. <u>The Soviet Peasantry:</u> An Outline History. Moscow: Progress Publishers, 1975.

Volin, Lazar. A Survey of Soviet Russian Agriculture. Agriculture

Monograph no. 5. Washington, D.C: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1951.

*Wheatcroft, S. G. "A Reevaluation of Soviet Agricultural Production in the 1920s and 1930s." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 32-62. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Wittfogel, Karl August. "Communist and Non-Communist Agrarian Systems with Specific Reference to the U.S.S.R. and Communist China: A Comparative Approach." In <u>Agrarian Policies and Problems</u> <u>in Communist and Non-Communist Countries</u>, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press, 1971.

I. C. General Works: Collectivization

Arkhipov, A. <u>How Farmers' Cooperatives Were Organized</u>. Moscow: Novosti Press Agency Publishing House, 1977.

Biggart, John. "The Collectivization of Agriculture in Soviet Lithuania." <u>East European Quarterly</u> 9 (1975) 1:53-75.

*Davies, R. W. <u>The Socialist Offensive: The Collectivization of</u> <u>Soviet Agriculture, 1929-1930</u>. Vol. 1 of <u>The Industrialisation</u> <u>of Soviet Russia</u>. London: Macmillan; and Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1980.

*Davies, R. W. <u>The Soviet Collective Farm, 1929-1930</u>. Vol. 2 of <u>The Industrialisation of Soviet Russia</u>. London: Macmillan; and Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1980.

Ellman, Michael. "Did the Agricultural Surplus Provide the Resources for the Increase Investment in the USSR during the First Five-Year Plan?" <u>The Economic Journal</u> 85 (December 1975): 844-64.

Lewin, Moshe. "The Immediate Background of Soviet Collectivization." Soviet Studies 17 (October 1965) 2:162-97.

Lewin, Moshe. "Who Are the Soviet Kulaks?" <u>Soviet Studies</u> 18 (October 1966) 2:189-212. Cf. the comments by R. Beermann, <u>Soviet Studies</u> 18 (January 1967) 3:371-75.

Lewin, Moshe. <u>Russian Peasants and Soviet Power</u>. London: Allen & Unwin, 1968.

Millar, James R. "Soviet Rapid Development and the Agricultural Surplus Hypothesis." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 22 (July 1970) 1:77-93. Cf. Alec Nove's comments and Millar's reply, <u>Soviet Studies</u> 22 (January 1971) 3:394-401, and 23 (October 1971) 2:302-6. Millar, James R. "Mass Collectivization and the Contribution of Agriculture to the First Five-Year Plan: A Review Article." Slavic Review 33 (December 1971) 4:750-66.

*Millar, James R. "Views on the Economics of Collectivization of Soviet Agriculture: The State of the Revisionist Debate." In <u>The</u> <u>Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 109-17. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Millar, James R., and Corinne Guntzel. "The Economics and Politics of Mass Collectivization Reconsidered." <u>Explorations of</u> Economic History 8 (Fall 1970) 1:103-16.

Millar, James R., Jerry F. Hough, and Alec Nove. "Was Stalin Really Necessary? A Debate on Collectivization." <u>Problems of Communism</u> 25 (1976) 4:49-66.

Nove, Alec. "The Decision to Collectivize." In <u>Agrarian Policies</u> and <u>Problems in Communist and Non-Communist Countries</u>, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson, 69-97. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1971.

Sirc, Ljubo. "Economics of Collectivization." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 18 (January 1967) 3:362-70.

Taagepera, Rein. "Soviet Collectivization of Estonian Agriculture: The Taxation Phase." Journal of Baltic Studies 10 (1979): 263-82.

Taagepera, Rein. "Soviet Collectivization of Estonian Agriculture: The Deportation Phase." Soviet Studies 32 (1980) 3:379-97.

*Zaleski, Eugene. "The Collectivization Drive and Agricultural Planning in the Soviet Union." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 79-106. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

I. D. General Works: Post-Stalin

Arutjunjan, J. V. "The State, Agrarian Policy and the Trends of Agriculture in the Soviet Union." <u>Economies et sociétés</u> 10 (1976) 7/8:1631-52.

Broadbent, K. P., ed. <u>Centrally Planned Agriculture: China and</u> <u>USSR</u>. Review Publication no. 2. Oxford: Commonwealth Bureau of Agricultural Economics, 1972. A compilation of review articles and annotated bibliography.

Bush, Keith. "Agricultural Reforms since Khrushchev." <u>Bulletin</u> (Institute for the Study of the USSR) 16 (1969) 5:3-26.

Bush, Keith. "Soviet Agriculture in the 1970s." <u>Studies on the</u> Soviet Union 11 (1970): 1-45.

Bush, Keith. "Soviet Agriculture: Ten Years under New Management." In <u>Sectoral Analysis</u>, 79-122. Vol. 2 of <u>Economic Development in</u> <u>the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by Zbigniew M. Fallenbuch1. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1976.

Carey, David W. "Soviet Agriculture: Recent Performance and Future Plans." In <u>Soviet Economy in a New Perspective</u>, 575-99. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Carey, David W., and Joseph F. Havelka. "Soviet Agriculture: Progress and Problems." In <u>Soviet Economy in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:55-86. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Clark, M. Gardner. "Soviet Agricultural Policy." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>Agriculture: An Assessment of Its Contribution to Economic</u> <u>Development</u>, edited by Harry G. Shaffer. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1977.

Clarke, Roger A. "Soviet Agricultural Reform since Khrushchev." Soviet Studies 20 (October 1968) 2:159-178.

Clayton, Elizabeth. "Productivity in Soviet Agriculture: A Sectoral Comparison." <u>Jahrbuch der Wirtschaft Osteuropas--Yearbook</u> of East European Economies 2 (1971): 315-28.

Clayton, Elizabeth. "Productivity in Soviet Agriculture." <u>Slavic</u> Review 39 (1980) 3:446-58.

Diamond, Douglas B., and W. Lee Davis. "Comparative Growth in Output and Productivity in U.S. and USSR Agriculture." In <u>Soviet Economy</u> <u>in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:19-54. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Diamond, Douglas B., and Constance B. Krueger. "Recent Developments in Output and Productivity in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>Economic Prospects for the Seventies</u>, 316-39. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1973.

Durgin, Frank A. "The Inefficiency of Soviet Agriculture versus the Efficiency of U.S. Agriculture: Reality or Idol of the Mind." The ACES Bulletin 20 (Fall-Winter 1978) 3-4:1-36. Durgin, Frank A. "The Low Productivity of Soviet Agricultural Trade." In <u>Agricultural Policies in the USSR and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird, and R. D. Laird, 27-36. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

*Durgin, Frank A., Jr. "The Relationship of the Death of Stalin to the Economic Changes of the Post-Stalin Era." In <u>The Soviet</u> <u>Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 118-42. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Emel'ianov, A. "The Party's Agrarian Policy and Structural Changes in Agriculture." <u>Problems of Communism</u> 18 (1975) 7:83-108. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1974, no. 3.

Feiwel, George R. "The Vicissitudes of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Rivista Internazionale di Scienze Economiche e Commerciali</u> 19 (1972) 8 and 9.

Garaventa, John. "Down on the Farm, Soviet-style." <u>National</u> <u>Geographic Magazine</u> 155 (June 1979): 769-96.

Goldrich, Judith G. <u>USSR Agricultural Trade, 1955-1977: A</u> <u>Historical Perspective</u>. (FAS-M-289). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1979.

Green, Donald W. "Soviet Agriculture: An Econometric Analysis of Technology and Behavior." In <u>Soviet Economy in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:115-32. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Hahn, Werner G. The Politics of Soviet Agriculture, 1960-1970. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1972.

*Hedlund, Stefan. <u>Crisis in Soviet Agriculture</u>. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1984.

Hingley, Ronald. "Home Truths on the Farm: The Literary Mirror." Problems of Communism 14 (1965) 3:22-34.

Iglesia, J. C. Sta, F. A. Tiongson, L. A. Paulino, J. M. Lawas, and M. Mangahas. "An Overview of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Agricultural Economic and Development</u> (Philippine Agricultural Economics Association) 1 (1971) 1:55-72.

Il'ichev, A. K. "Certain Principles in Determining the Place of USSR Agriculture in the International Division of Labor." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 17 (1975) 9:34-47. Translated from <u>Vestnik</u> Moskovskogo Universiteta: Ekonomika, 1974, no. 2.

Johnson, D. Gale. "Agricultural Production." In Economic Trends

in the Soviet Union, edited by A. Bergson and S. Kuznets, 203-34. Cambridge, Harvard University Press, 1963.

Johnson, D. Gale. "Soviet Agriculture Revisited." <u>American</u> Journal of Agricultural Economics 53 (1971) 2:257-68.

Kahan, Arcadius. "Changes in Agriculture Revisited." <u>American</u> Journal of Agricultural Economics 53 (1971) 2:257-68.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "Seven Years on the Farm." In <u>New Directions in</u> <u>the Soviet Economy</u>, 383-450. Studies prepared for the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1966.

Karliuk, I. "Economic Problems in the Development of Agriculture." <u>The Soviet Review</u> 15 (1974) 3:3-21. Translated from <u>Voprosy</u> <u>ekonomiki</u>, 1973, no. 12.

Kerblay, Basile. "The Peasant." Survey 64 (July 1967): 99-107.

*Khrushchev, Nikita Sergeevich. <u>Measures for the Further Develop-</u> <u>ment of Agriculture in the USSR</u>. Moscow: Foreign Languages Publishing House, 1954.

Klatt, Werner. "Soviet Farm Output and Food Supply in 1970." St. Antony's Papers, no. 19. <u>Soviet Affairs</u> no. 4. London: Oxford University Press, 1966: 104-133.

Klatt, Werner. "Reflections on the 1975 Soviet Harvest." <u>Soviet</u> Studies 26 (1976) 4:485-498.

Laird, Roy D. "The Politics of Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>Agricultural and Peasant Affairs</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird, 269-86. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963.

Laird, Roy D. "Agriculture under Khrushchev." <u>Survey</u> 56 (July 1965): 106-17.

Laird, Roy D. "Political and Economic Trends in Soviet Agriculture." <u>The New Russia</u>, edited by D. Dirscherl, 37-54. Dayton, Ohio: Pflaum Press, 1968.

Laird, Roy D. "Prospects for Soviet Agriculture." <u>Problems of</u> Communism 20 (1971) 5:31-40.

Laird, Roy D. "Soviet Agriculture in 1973 and Beyond in Light of the United States' Performance." <u>The Russian Review</u> 33 (October 1974) 4:362-85.

Laird, Roy D. "Soviet Farmer Labor Productivity, 1950-1970, as Measured by a U.S barometer." In <u>Sectoral Analysis</u>, 241-60. Vol. 2 of Economic Development in the Soviet <u>Union and Eastern</u> Europe, edited by Zbigniew M. Fallenbuchl. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1976.

Laird, Roy D., and E. L. Crowley. <u>Soviet Agriculture: The</u> <u>Permanent Crisis</u>. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1965.

Laird, Roy D., and Betty A. Laird. "The Widening Soviet Grain Gap and Prospects for 1980 and 1990." In <u>The Future of Agriculture</u> <u>in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe: The 1976-80 Five-Year</u> <u>Plan</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird, J. Hajda, and Betty A. Laird, 27-47. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1977.

Leversedge, Francis M., and Robert C. Stuart. "Soviet Agricultural Restructure and Urban Markets." <u>Canadian Geographer</u> 19 (1975) 1:73-93.

Lukinov, I. "Problems in Agricultural Forecasting." <u>Problems of</u> <u>Economics</u> 14 (1972) 10:3-18. Translated from <u>Voprosy ekonomiki</u>, 1978, no. 5.

Mezhberg, Iu. "Current Problems in the Restructuring of the Countryside." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 21 (1979) 9:44-61. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1978, no. 5.

Millar, James R. "The Prospects of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Problems</u> of Communism 26 (1977) 3:1-16.

Millar, James R. "Post-Stalin Agriculture and Its Future." <u>The</u> <u>Soviet Union since Stalin</u>, edited by Stephen F. Cohen, Alexander Rabinowitch and R. Sharlet, 135-54. Bloomington, Ind. and London: Indiana University Press, 1980.

Millar, James R. "Transformation of the Soviet Rural Community." In <u>Scholarly Exchanges with the USSR and Eastern Europe: Two Decades</u> of American Experience, edited by Allen Kassof.

Morozov, V. <u>Soviet Agriculture</u>. Translated from Russian by Inna Medova. Moscow: Progress Publishers, 1977.

Nikiforov, L. "Overcoming Socioeconomic Differences between Town and Country." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 18 (1975) 7:61-82. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1975, no. 2.

Nimitz, Nancy. "The Lean Years." <u>Problems of Communism</u> 14 (1965) 3:10-22.

Nove, Alec. "Soviet Agriculture under Brezhnev." <u>Slavic Review</u> 29 (1970) 3:379-410. Cf. in same issue: Douglas E. A. Jackson, "Wanted, An Effective Land Use Policy and Improved Reclamation," 411-416; Jerzy F. Karcz, "Some Major Persisting Problems in Soviet Agriculture," 417-426; Alec Nove, "Reply," 427-28. *Nove, Alec. "Soviet Agriculture: Problems and Prospects ." In <u>The Soviet State: The Domestic Roots of Soviet Foreign Policy</u>, edited by Curtis Keeble, 91-105. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1985.

Osovsky, Stephen. <u>Soviet Agricultural Policy: Toward the</u> <u>Abolition of Collective Farms</u>. New York, Washington, D.C., and London: Praeger Publishers, 1974.

Pinvdak, F. <u>Ideology and Economics in Soviet Agricultural</u> <u>Policies</u>. Discussion Paper no. 13. Netherlands School of Economics, Centre for Development Planning, 1971.

Ploss, Sidney I. <u>Conflict and Decision-Making in Soviet Russia: A</u> <u>Case Study of Agricultural Policy 1953-1963</u>. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 1965.

Prybyla, Jan S. "Soviet Economic Reform in Agriculture." Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv 109 (1973) 4:644-87.

Sarap, Kailas. "Soviet Agricultural Development, 1953-58" Economic Affairs (Calcutta) 28 (1978) 3:109-15.

Schinke, Eberhard. "Some Peculiarities of the Employment of Factors in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Agrarian Policies and Problems</u> <u>in Communist and Non-Communist Countries</u>, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1971.

Schinke, Eberhard. "Soviet Agriculture: An Uncertain Outlook." In <u>The USSR in the 1980s: Economic Growth and the Role of Foreign</u> <u>Trade</u>, 23-30. NATO Directorate of Economic Affairs Series, no. 7. Brussels: NATO Directorate of Economic Affairs, 1978.

Schoonover, David M. "Soviet Agricultural Policies from Development to Maturity." Soviet Union 4 (1977) 2:271-96.

Schoonover, David M. "Soviet Agriculture in the 1976-80 Plan." In <u>The Future of Agriculture in the Soviet Union and Eastern</u> <u>Europe: The 1976-80 Five-Year Plans</u>, edited by R. D. Laird, J. Hajda, and B. A. Laird, 79-84. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1977.

Schoonover, David M. "Soviet Agricultural Policies." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>Economy in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:87-115. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Severin, Barbara S., and David W. Carey. "The Outlook of Soviet Agriculture." In <u>The Future of the Soviet Economy: 1978-1985</u>, edited by Holland Hunter, 100-132. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1978. Shaffer, Harry G. "Soviet Agriculture: Success or Failure?" In Soviet Agriculture: An Assessment of Its Contribution to Economic Development, edited by Harry G. Shaffer, 56-105. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1977.

Slater, John A. "Soviet Grain Harvest and Imports in Perspective." World Today (1976) 2:75-80.

Smith, Enid. "Comparing Soviet Agriculture." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 16 (July 1964) 1:82-89.

"Soviet Conservation Law: Land." <u>Soviet Statutes and Decisions:</u> A Journal of Translations. 9 (1972) 1:5-96.

Soviet Economic Performance: 1966-1967. Materials prepared for the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1968.

Soviet Economic Prospects for the Seventies. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1973.

Soviet Economy in a New Perspective. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

Soviet Economy in a Time of Change, vol. 2. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Strauss, Erich. <u>Soviet Agriculture in Perspective</u>. London: George Allen & Unwin, 1969.

*Stuart, Robert C. "Introduction: Perspectives on the Russian and Soviet Rural Economy." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 1-17. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Syrodev, N. <u>Soviet Land Legislation</u>. Translated from Russian by K. Kostrov. Moscow: Progress Publishers, 1975.

Volin, Lazar. "Agricultural Policy of the Soviet Union." In <u>Comparative Economic Systems: Models and Cases</u>, edited by M. Bornstein. Homewood, Ill.: R. D. Irwin, 1965.

Volin, Lazar. "Khrushchev and the Soviet Agricultural Scene." In Soviet and East European Agriculture, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 1-21. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "A Survey of Soviet Agriculture in 1974."

In <u>Modernization of Agriculture: East and West</u>, 135-58. Milan: CESES, 1976.

Wagener, Hans-Jurgen. "Sectoral Growth: The Case of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Jahrbücher für Nationalökonomie und Statistik</u> 188 (1975) 6:512-38.

Whitehouse, F. Douglas, and Joseph F. Havelka. "Comparison of Farm Output in the U.S. and USSR, 1950-1971." In <u>Soviet Economic</u> <u>Prospects for the Seventies</u>, 340-74. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1973.

*Wright, Arthur, ed. Jerzy F. Karcz. The Economics of Communist Agriculture: Selected Papers. Bloomington, Ind.: Institute of Development Studies, 1979.

Zabijaka, Valentine. "The Soviet Grain Trade 1961-1970: A Decade of Change." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> 16 (1974) 1:3-16.

II. Soviet Statistics, Research and Education.

р.

Adams, Arthur E. "Informal Education in Soviet Agriculture." Comparative education review 11 (1967) 2:217-30.

*Bernstam, Mikhail S. "Re-examining Soviet Grain Balances and Strategic Grain Reserves, 1971/72 to 1981/82." <u>Defense and</u> Foreign Affairs 10 (September 1982).

Cox, Terence. <u>Rural Sociology in the Soviet Union: Its History</u> and Basic Concepts. London: C. Hurst & Company, 1979.

Davies, R. W. "A Note on Grain Statistics." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 21 (January 1970) 3:314-29.

Feshbach, Murray. <u>The Soviet Statistical System: Labor Force</u> <u>Recordkeeping and Reporting</u>. International Population Statistics Report, ser. P-90, no. 12). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1960.

Gerasimov, I. P., S. L. Vendrov, S. V. Zonn, A. S. Kes', N. T. Kuznetsov, and M. I. Neyshtadt. "Large-Scale Research and Engineering Programs for the Transformation of Nature in the Soviet Union and the Role of Geographers in Their Implementation." <u>Soviet</u> <u>Geography</u> 17 (1976) 4:235-45. Translated from <u>Materialy VI</u> s"ezda geograficheskogo obshchestva SSSR. Leningrad: 1975.

Gillula, James W. <u>Bibliography of Regional Statistical Handbooks</u> <u>in the USSR</u>. 2d ed. Washington, D. C.: Bureau of the Census, Foreign Demographic Analysis Division, September 1980. Grossman, Philip. "A Note on Agricultural Employment in the USSR." <u>Soviet Studies 19</u> (January 1968) 3:398-404.

Grude, E. N. "A Model for Optimizing the Production Pattern in the Agricultural Enterprise." <u>Matekon</u> 12 (1976) 4:88-97. Translated from Ekonomika i Matematicheskie Metody 1975, no. 5.

Jasny, Naum. "More Soviet Grain Statistics." <u>International</u> <u>Affairs</u> 32 (October 1956) 4:464-66.

Joravsky, David. "Ideology and Progress in Crop Rotation." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 156-72. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Joravsky, David. <u>The Lysenko Affair</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1970.

Kahan, Arcadius. "Soviet Statistics of Agricultural Output." In <u>Soviet Agricultural and Peasant Affairs</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird, 134-60. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963. Cf. in same issue: L. O. Richter, "Commentary," 161-68.

Kravchenko, P. G. "Methods of Economic Analysis and Programming in the Organisation of Large Farms in the USSR." In <u>Policies</u>, <u>Planning and Management for Agricultural Development: Papers and Reports, Fourteenth International Conference of Agricultural Economists</u>, 166-76. Oxford: Institute for Agrarian Affairs, 1971.

*Lazarcik, Gregor. <u>Comparative Levels of Agricultural Output and</u> <u>Purchasing Powers of Currencies for Agricultural Products of</u> <u>Eastern European Countries, USSR, and USA: 1959, 1966, and 1970</u>. New York: L. W. International Financial Research, Inc. (633 West 115th Street, New York, NY, 10025).

Medvedev, Zhores. <u>The Rise and Fall of T. D. Lysenko</u>. Translated by I. M. Lerner. New York: Columbia University Press, 1969.

Petrov, A. "Rural Vocational Training in the USSR." <u>International</u> <u>Labor Review</u> 110 (1974) 4:319-34.

Raup, Philip M. "Some Consequences of Data Deficiencies in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Soviet Economic Statistics</u>, edited by Vladimir G. Treml and John P. Hardt, 263-78. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press, 1972.

Richter, Luba. "Some Remarks on Soviet Agricultural Statistics." <u>The American Statistician</u> 15 (1961) 3:23-27.

Schinke, Eberhard. "Soviet Agricultural Statistics." In Soviet

Economic Statistics, edited by Vladimir G. Treml and John P. Hardt, 237-62. Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press, 1972.

Sergeyev, S. "Methods of Economic Analysis of Large Soviet Agricultural Enterprises." In <u>Policies, Planning and Management</u> for Agricultural Development: Papers and Reports, Fourteenth <u>International Conference of Agricultural Economists</u>, 160-66. Oxford: Institute for Agrarian Affairs, 1971.

Solomon, Susan G. <u>The Soviet Agrarian Debate: A Controversy in</u> Social Science, 1923-29. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1977.

*Treml, Vladimir G. "Losses in Soviet National Income: A Puzzle." The ACES Bulletin 23 (Spring 1981) 1.

USSR Grain Statistics: National and Regional, 1955-75. Economic Research Service Statistical Bulletin no. 564. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, 1977.

Zaslavska, Tamara (Tatiana) I. "On the Main Lines of Rural Sociology in Siberia." In <u>Problems of the Development of Agriculture</u> and Information on the <u>State of Rural Sociology in Various</u> <u>Countries</u>, 9-25. Warsaw: Institute of Philosophy and Sociology, PAS, 1979.

III. Individual Crops and Animal Production

Anderson, Jeremy. "Fodder and Livestock Production in the Ukraine: A Case Study of Soviet Agricultural Policy." <u>The East</u> <u>Lakes Geographer 3</u> (October 1967): 29-46.

Anderson, Jeremy. "A Historical-Geographical Perspective on Khrushchev's Corn Program." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u> edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 104-28. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Beaucourt, Chantal. "The Crop Policy of the Soviet Union: Present Characteristics and Future Perspectives." In <u>Agricultural</u> <u>Policies in the USSR and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird and R. D. Laird, 49-70. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

Chrisler, Donald. <u>Livestock Feed Balances for the USSR</u>. Economic Research Service Report no. 355. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1973.

*Diamond, Douglas B., and Lee W. Bettis, and Robert E. Ramsson. "Agricultural Production." In <u>The Soviet Economy: Toward the</u> <u>Year 2000</u>, edited by Abram Bergson and Herbert S. Levine, 14377. London: George Allen & Unwin, 1983. Mostly feed and livestock production.

Evans, Robert B. "Cotton in the USSR." <u>Foreign Agriculture</u> 23 (June 14, 1976): 2-5.

Goldrich, Judith. <u>Sunflowerseed in the USSR: Production</u>, <u>Processing and Trade</u>. (FAS M-290). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1979.

Goldrich, Judith. "USSR Grain and Oilseed Trade in the Seventies." In <u>Soviet Economy in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:133-64. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

Gray, Kenneth R. "Performance and Organizational Development in Soviet Red Meat Production." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> 21 (1979) 3-4 (Fall-Winter): 43-65.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "The U.S. Grain Embargo and the Soviet Livestock Sector in 1980." In <u>USSR Facts and Figures Annual</u>, vol. 5, edited by John L. Scherer, 181-91. Gulf Breeze, Fla.: Academic International Press, 1981.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "Soviet Livestock: Stymied Growth, Increased Cost and Search for Balance." In <u>Soviet Economy in the</u> <u>1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2, 86-108</u>. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Hultquist, Warren F. "Soviet Sugar-beet Production: Some Geographical Aspects of Agro-Industrial Coordination." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 135-55. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Hurt, Leslie C., Robert D. Barry, and John S. McFarlane. <u>USSR</u> <u>Sugar: Today and Tomorrow</u>. (FAS-M-284). Washington, D. C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1978.

Jasny, Naum. "The Failure of the Soviet Animal Industry." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 15 (October 1963) 2:187-218; (January 1964) 2 and 3:285-307.

Jasny, Naum. <u>Khrushchev's Crop Policy</u>. Glasgow: George Outram & Co., 1963.

*Jones, David and Janina Smogorzewska. "Dairy Farming in the USSR: Policy and Reality." Soviet Studies 34 (April 1982) 2.

*Meshcherskaya, A. V. "The Long-Term Relationship between Grain Yields and Heat Moisture Indices." Soviet Geography, March 1983.

*Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. "The Soviet Feed Livestock Sector and the Meat Processing Industry." Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, March 1984.

Paige, Bryan. "The Soviet Sugar Situation, 1970-74." <u>The ACES</u> <u>Bulletin</u> 16 (Winter 1974) 3:53-62.

*Rybkin, Yuri. <u>The Soviet Land's Cotton Belt</u>. Moscow: Novosti Press Agency, 1979.

Schoonover, David M. "Soviet Agricultural Trade and the Feed-Livestock Economy." In <u>Soviet Economy in a New Perspective</u>, 813-21. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

Schoonover, David M. "The Soviet Feed-Livestock Economy: Projections and Policies." In <u>Sectoral Analysis</u>, 223-40. Vol. 2 of <u>Economic</u> <u>Development in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by Zbigniew M. Fallenbuchl. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1976.

*Sinnott, Peter. "The Soviet Sugar Beet Industry: Its Diffusion and Systemic Articulation." New York: Columbia University, 1983.

U.S. Team Reports on Soviet Cotton Production and Trade. FAS-M 277. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1977.

Zahn, Michael D. "Soviet Livestock in Perspective." In <u>Soviet</u> <u>Economy in a Time of Change</u>, vol. 2:165-85. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1979.

IV. Spatial Allocation and Regional Aspects

*Ambroziak, Russell A., and David W. Carey. "Climate and Grain Production in the Soviet Union." In <u>Soviet Economy in the</u> <u>1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2</u>, 109-23. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Borchenko, N. "The Program of Integrated Development of Agriculture in the Nonchernozem Zone." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 16 (1975) 4:249-256. Translated from Planovoye khozyaistvo, 1974, no. 7. Boyev, V. R.: "Problems of Agri-Alimentary Complexes in Territories with Extreme Production Conditions." In <u>Decision-Making and</u> <u>Agriculture: Papers and Reports, Sixteenth International Conference</u> <u>of Agricultural Economists</u>, edited by Th. Dams and K. E. Hunt, 263-66. Oxford: Agricultural Economics Institute, 1977.

Bronshtein, M. "Improving the Territorial Management of Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 17 (1974) 1:45-60. Translated from Voprosy Ekonomiki, 1973, no. 10.

Bystrova, N. P. "The Problem of Developing Rural Services in Novgorod Oblast'." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 21 (1980) 4:419-27. Translated from <u>Vestnik Leningradskogo</u> Universiteta, 1974, no. 18.

Bystrova, P. "The Relationship between the Location of Services and Rural Settlement." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 21 (1980) 4:419-427. Translated from <u>Izvestiya vsesoyuznogo geograficheskogo obshchestva</u>, 1979, no. 4.

Clayton, Elizabeth. <u>Agricultural Land Evaluation in the Soviet</u> <u>Union and Eastern Europe</u>. University of Missouri, St. Louis, Center for International Studies, Occasional Paper no. 8021. St. Louis, Mo.: University of Missouri, St. Louis, Center for International Studies, December 1980.

Dienes, Leslie. "Pasturalism in Turkestan: Its Decline and Its Persistance." Soviet Studies 27 (July 1975) 3:343-65.

Durgin, Frank A. "The Virgin Lands Programme." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 13 (January 1962) 3:255-80.

Dzhaoshvili, V. Sh. "Territory: A Natural Resource of Georgia and Problems of Its Use and Settlement." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 15 (1974) 2:73-81. Translated from <u>Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR</u>: Seriya Geograficheskaya, 1973, no. 4.

*Evans, Alfred, Jr. "Interrepublic Inequity in Agricultural Development in the USSR." <u>Slavic Review</u> 40 (Winter 1981) 4.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "Improved Agricultural Location: Econometric Evidence from the Ukraine." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 199-222. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Jackson, W. A. D. and R. Towber. "The Continuing Perplexities of Soviet Agriculture: The Performance of Northern Kazakhstan." In <u>The Soviet Union: The Seventies and Beyond</u>, edited by B. W. Eissenstat, 169-80. Toronto and London: Lexington Books, 1975.

Jarvesoo, Elmar. "Progress despite Collectivization: Agriculture in Estonia." In Problems of Mini-nations: Baltic Perspectives, 137-49. San Jose, Calif.: Association for the Advancement of Baltic Studies, 1973.

Jensen, Robert G. "The Soviet Concept of Agricultural Regionalization and Its Development." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 77-98. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Khan, Azizur Rahman, and Dharam Ghai. <u>Collective Agriculture and</u> <u>Rural Development in Soviet Central Asia</u>. A study prepared for the International Labour Office within the framework of the World Employment Programme. London: Macmillan, 1979.

Koropeckyj, I. S. "National Income of the Soviet Union Republics in 1970: Revision and Some Applications." In Vol. 1 of <u>Economic</u> <u>Development in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by Zbigniew M. Fallenbuchl, 287-331. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1975.

Kosov, B. F., et al. "The Gullying Hazard in the Midland Region of the USSR in Conjunction with Economic Development." <u>Soviet</u> <u>Geography</u> 18 (1977) 3:172-78. Translated from <u>Geomorfologiya</u>, 1976, no. 2.

Krylov, M. P. "A Regionalization of the Rural Areas of Tambov Oblast' Based on Development Indicators." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 17 (1976) 6:406-11. Translated from <u>Vestnik Moskovskogo Universiteta:</u> Seriya Geografiya, 1975, no. 2.

Laykin, V. I. "Some Methods for an Agricultural Typology of the South of Krasnoyarsk Kray." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 14 (1973) 9:564-72. Translated from <u>Doklady Instituta Geografii Sibiri i Dal'nego</u> Vostoka, 1972, no. 36.

Lola, A. M., and T. M. Savina. "Regularities and Prospects of Transformation of Rural Settlements in the Nonchernozem Zone of the RSFSR." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 20 (1979) 3:170-84. Translated from <u>Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR: Seriya Geograficheskaya</u>, 1978, no. 1.

Lonsdale, Richard E. "Regional Inequity and Soviet Concern for Rural and Small-Town Industrialization." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 18 (1977) 8:590-602.

Lydolph, Paul E. "Schemes for Soviet Geography 16 (1975) 3:186-97. Translated from <u>Geografiya v shkole</u>, 1974, no. 5.

Lydolph, Paul E. "The Agricultural Potential of the Nonchernozem Zone." In <u>The Future of the Soviet Economy: 1978-1985</u>, edited by Holland Hunter, 49-77. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1978. Lydolph, Paul E. <u>Geography of the USSR</u>. Elkhart Lake, Wis.: Misty Valley Publishing, 1979.

Turushina, L. A. "Problems in the Use of Agricultural Land in the Zones of Hydropower Complexes in East Siberia." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 17 (1976) 3:172-79. Translated from <u>Doklady Instituta Geografii</u> Sibiri i Dal'nego Vostoka, 1974, no. 44.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Soviet Agriculture and Agricultural Policy." In <u>Soviet Agriculture: The Permanent Crisis</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird and E. L. Crowley, 52-67 and 71-98. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1965.

Zoerb, Carl. "The Virgin Land Territory: Plans, Performance, Prospects." In <u>Soviet Agriculture: The Permanent Crisis</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird and E. L. Crowley, 29-44. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1965.

V. Irrigation and Other Land Improvement Measures

*Berezner, A. S. "Long-Term Projection of Water Needs for Irrigation in the USSR." <u>Soviet Geography</u> (May 1983).

Gangardt, G. G. "On the Question of Diverting Part of the Unused Runoff of Northern and Siberian Rivers into Regions Suffering from a Shortage of Water Resources." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 13 (1972) 9:622-28. Translated from <u>Gidrotekhnicheskoye stroitel'stvo</u>, 1971, no. 8.

Gustafson, Thane. "Transforming Soviet Agriculture: Brezhnev's Gamble on Land Improvement." <u>Public Policy</u> 25 (1977) 3:293-312.

*Kogan, Felix N. "Soviet Grain Production: Resources and Prospects." Soviet Geography (November 1983).

Kornilov, B. A. "The Impact of the Kara Kum Canal on the Environment." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 16 (1975) 5:308-14. Translated from <u>Vodnye resursy</u>, 1974, no. 3.

L'vovich, M. I., et al. "The Water Aspect of the Geography of Agriculture in the USSR." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 20 (1979) 9:515-33. Translated from <u>Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR: Seriya Geograficheskaya</u>, 1978, no. 4.

Matley, Ian M. "The Murgab Oasis." <u>Canadian Slavonic Papers</u> 17 (1975) 2/3:417-35.

Micklin, Philip P. "Soviet Plans to Reverse the Flow of the Rivers: The Kama-Vychegda-Pechora Project." <u>Canadian Geographer</u> 13 (1969) 3:589-603. Micklin, Philip P. "Dimensions of the Caspian Sea Problem." Soviet Geography 13 (1972) 9:589-603.

Micklin, Philip P. "The Falling Level of the Caspian Sea." In Environmental Deterioration in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe, edited by Ivan Volgyes, 67-79. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1974.

Micklin, Philip P. "Nawapa and Two Siberian Water-Diversion Proposals: A Geographic Comparison and Appraisal." <u>Soviet</u> Geography 18 (1977) 2:81-99.

Micklin, Philip P. "Environmental Factors in Soviet Interbasin Water Transfer Policy." Environmental Management 2 (1978) 6:567-80.

Micklin, Philip P. "Irrigation Development in the USSR during the 10th Five-Year Plan (1976-80)." <u>Soviet Geography</u> 19 (1978) 1:1-24.

Micklin, Philip P. "Large-Scale Interbasin Diversions in the USSR: Implications for the Future." In <u>Soviet Resource Management</u> and the Environment, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson, 63-82. Columbus, Ohio: AAASS, 1978.

Micklin, Philip P. "Disciplinary Plan for USSR Rivers." <u>The</u> Geographic Magazine 51 (1979) 10:701-6.

*Micklin, Philip P. "Soviet Water Diversion Plans: Implications for Kazakhstan and Central Asia." <u>Central Asian Survey</u> 1 (April 1983) 4.

*Micklin, Philip P. "Water Diversion Proposals for the European USSR: Status and Trends." Soviet Geography (September 1983).

*Rafikov, A. A. "Environmental Change in the Southern Aral Region in Connection with the Drop in the Aral Sea Level." <u>Soviet</u> Geography (May 1983).

*Voropayev, G. V., I. P. Gerasimov, O. A. Kibal'chich, and N. I. Koronkevich. "The Problem of Redistribution of Water Resources in the Midlands Region of the USSR (the Siberia-Central Asia Transfer Project)" <u>Soviet Geography</u> (December 1983).

VI. Incomes and Living Standards

Anderson, I. A. "The Rise in Level of Living and the Rural Development of the Intellectual Needs of the Rural Population." Soviet Sociology 18 (1978) 1:3-15. *Borders, Karl. <u>Village Life under the Soviets</u>. Plainview, N.Y.: Books for Libraries Press, 1976.

Bronson, David W. and Constance B. Krueger. "The Revolution in Soviet Farm Household Income, 1953-1967." In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> <u>Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 214-58. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Crook, Frederick W., and Elizabeth F. Crook. "Payment Systems Used in Collective Farms in the Soviet Union and China." <u>Studies</u> in Comparative Communism 9 (1976) 3:257-69.

*Evans, Alfred, Jr. "Interrepublic Inequity in Agricultural Development in the USSR." Slavic Review 40 (Winter 1981) 4.

*Evans, Alfred, Jr. "Changes in the Soviet Model of Rural Transformation." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 143-58. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Jasny, N. "Peasant-Worker Income Relations: A Neglected Subject." Soviet Studies 12 (July 1960) 1:14-22.

Ladenkov, V. N. and N. D. Gorina. "A Study of the Living Standard of the Rural Population." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 2:32-47. Translated from <u>Izvestiya Sibirskogo Otdeleniia</u> Akademii Nauk SSSR: Seriia Obshchestvennykh Nauk 1974, no. 11.

Lantsev, M. "Progress in Social Security for Agricultural Workers in the USSR." <u>International Labour Review</u> 107 (1973) 3:239-52.

Mashenkov, V. and M. Nikitin. "Remuneration and Productivity in Soviet Agriculture." International Labour Review 117 (1978) 1:69-79.

Nove, Alec. "Rural Taxation in the USSR." <u>Soviet Studies</u> (October 1953) 2:159-66.

Nove, Alec. "The Income of Soviet Peasants." <u>The Slavonic and</u> East European Review 37 (1960) 91 (2): 314-33.

Paskhaver, B. "Indicators and Analysis of Differentiation of Collective Farm Income." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1977) 9:74-88. Translated from <u>Vestnik statistiki</u>, 1976, no. 4.

*Schroeder, Gertrude E. "Rural Living Standards in the Soviet Union." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 241-57. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Taichinova, K. "Raising the Living Standard of the Rural Population." <u>The Soviet Review</u> 16 (1975/1976) 4:33-52. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1974, no. 6. Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Payment in Kind in Soviet Agriculture." <u>Bulletin</u> (Institute for the Study of the USSR) 18 (September 1971) 9:5-18 and 18 (October 1971) 11:5-24.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Income Distribution in Soviet Agriculture." Soviet Studies 27 (1975) 1:3-26.

Wronski, Henri. "Peasant Incomes." In <u>Soviet Agriculture: The</u> <u>Permanent Crisis</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird and E. L. Crowley, 123-36. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1965.

Wronski, Henri. "Consumer Cooperatives in Rural Areas in the USSR" In <u>Agrarian Policies and Problems in Communist and</u> <u>Non-Communist Countries</u>, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson, 159-73. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1971.

VII. Social and Demographic Patterns

Arutyunyan, Yurij V. "A Comparative Study of the Rural Youth in the National Regions of the USSR: General and Specific Features." In <u>The Integrated Development of Human and Natural Resources: The</u> <u>Contribution of Rural Sociology</u>, 231-7. Wroclaw: Institute of Philosophy and Sociology, PAS, 1979.

Atkinson, Dorothy, Alexander Dallin, and Gail W. Lapidus, eds. <u>Women in Russia.</u> Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press, 1977.

Dodge, Norton T. and Murray Feshbach. "The Role of Women in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 265-302. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1967.

Dunn, Ethel. "The Importance of Religion in the Soviet Rural Community." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 346-75. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Dunn, Ethel. "Factors Affecting Social Mobility for Women in the Soviet Country-side." In <u>Agricultural Policies in the USSR and</u> <u>Eastern Europe</u>, edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird and R. D. Laird, 71-93. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

Dunn, Stephen P. "Structure and Functions of the Soviet Rural Family." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 325-45. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

*Fuchs, Roland J., and George J. Demko. "Mobility and Settlement System Integration in the USSR." Soviet Geography (October 1983). Hough, Jerry F. "The Changing Nature of the Kolkhoz Chairman." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 102-20. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

*Humphrey, Caroline. <u>The Karl Marx Collective: Economy, Society</u> and Religion in a Siberian Collective Farm. Cambridge Studies in Social Anthropology, no. 40. Cambridge: 1983. (Copublished with the Maison des Sciences de l'Homme).

Kovalev, S. A. "Regularities in the Formation of Territorial Systems of Rural Systems in the European Part of the Soviet Union." In <u>Urbanization in Europe: European Regional Conference</u> of the International Geographical Union, 237-42. Budapest: 1975.

Liely, Helmut. "Shepherds and Reindeer Nomads in the Soviet Union." Soviet Studies 31 (1979) 3:401-16.

Maurel, M. C. "Women in the Soviet Rural Society." <u>Cahiers du</u> monde russe et soviétique 20 (1979) 3-4:323-44.

Mill, Ian H. "The End of the Russian Peasantry?" <u>Soviet Studies</u> 27 (1975) 1:109-27.

Millar, James, ed. <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Monich, Zinaida I. "The Professional and Paraprofessional Component in the Structure of the Rural Population (based on data from the Belorussian SSR)." <u>Soviet Sociology</u> 12 (1973) 1:56-76 and 2:3-26. Translated from <u>Intelligentsiia v strukture sel'skogo</u> naseleniya (na materialakh BSSR) (Minsk: 1971).

Newth, J. A. "The Kolkhoz Household: Ukraine, 1950-1955." Soviet Studies 11 (January 1960): 307-16.

Osipov, G. V. ed. <u>Town, Country and People</u>. (With an introduction by Maurice Hookham). San Diego, Calif.: Tavistock Publishers, 1969.

Pallot, Judith. "Rural Settlement Planning in the USSR." <u>Soviet</u> Studies 31 (1979) 2:214-30.

Prudnik, I. V. "Agroindustrial Workers." <u>Soviet Sociology</u> 15 (1977) 4:3-37. Translated from <u>Rabochii klass v strukture</u> <u>sel'skogo naseleniya</u> by Z. I. Monich, V. G. Izokh, and I. V. Prudnik (Minsk: 1975).

Richter, Luba. "Plans to Urbanize the Countryside, 1950-1962." In <u>Soviet Planning: Essays in Honour of Naum Jasny</u>, edited by J. Degras and Alec Nove, 32-45. Oxford: B. Blackwell, 1964.

Sakoff, A. N. "Rural and Urban Society in the USSR: Comparative

Structure, Income, Level of Living." <u>Monthly Bulletin of</u> <u>Agricultural Economics</u> and Statistics 21 (1972) 10:1-13.

Shimkin, Demitri B. "Current Characteristics and Problems of the Soviet Rural Population." In <u>Soviet Agricultural and Peasant</u> <u>Affairs</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird, 79-127. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963.

Shinn, William T. "The Law of the Russian Peasant Household." Slavic Review 20 (1961) 4:601-21.

Simush, P. I. "Differences between Town and Country in Light of the Development of the Socialist Way of Life." <u>The Soviet Review</u> 17 (1976) 1:26-48. Translated from <u>Voprosy filosofii</u>, 1975, no. 3.

Vucinich, Alexander. "The Peasant as a Social Class." In <u>The</u> <u>Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 307-24. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Housing in the USSR: The Countryside." Problems of Communism 18 (1969) 3:12-20.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "The Nonagricultural Rural Sector." In <u>The</u> <u>Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 159-79. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Soviet Rural Society: A Descriptive Stratification Analysis." Soviet Studies 22 (April 1974) 4:512-38.

Zahn, Michael D. <u>Rural Settlement in the USSR and Its Relation</u> <u>to Farm Size</u>. University of Illinois, Urbana, Department of Agricultural Economics, Report no. 148. Urbana, Ill.: University of Illinois, Urbana, Department of Agricultural Economics, 1977.

Zekulin, Gleb. "The Contemporary Countryside in Soviet Literature: A Search for New Values." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 376-404. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

VIII. Agricultural Labor and Migration

DePauw, John W. <u>Measures of Agricultural Employment in the</u> <u>USSR: 1950-1966</u>. International Population Reports, ser. P-95, no. 65. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, Foreign Demographic Analysis Division, 1968.

Dodge, Norton T. "Recruitment and the Quality of the Soviet Agricultural Labor Force." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 180-223. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971. Feshbach, Murray, and Stephen Rapawy. "Labor and Wages." In <u>Economic Performance and the Military Burden in the Soviet Union</u>, 71-84. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1970.

Ladenkov, V. N. "Studies of Migration of Skilled Personnel in Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 15 (1973) 10:62-80. Translated from <u>Izvestiia Sibirskogo Otdeleniia Akademii Nauk</u> SSSR: Seriia Obshchestvennykh Nauk, 1972, no. 1.

Murray, James Patrick. "The All-Union Farm Machinery Association, 'Soiuzselkhoztexnika': A History of Its Role in Soviet Agriculture, 1961-1971." Ph.D. diss., New York University, 1976.

Nimitz, Nancy. Farm Employment in the Soviet Union, 1928-1963. Memorandum RM-4623-PR, November 1965. Santa Monica, Cal.: The RAND Corporation, 1965.

Nimitz, Nancy. "Farm Employment in the Soviet Union, 1928-63." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 175-205. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Cal.: University of California Press, 1967.

Potichnyj, Peter J. <u>Soviet Agricultural Trade Unions, 1917-1970</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1972.

Rapawy, Stephen. Estimates and Projections of the Labor Force and Civilian Employment in the USSR: 1950 to 1990. Foreign Demographic Report no. 10. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, 1976.

Stuart, Robert C. "Aspects of Rural-Urban Migration in the USSR." The ACES Bulletin 18 (1976) 4:32-48.

*Stuart, Robert C. "Women in Soviet Rural Management." <u>Slavic</u> Review 38 (December 1979) 4.

Stuart, Robert C., and Paul R. Gregory. "A Model of Soviet Rural-Urban Migration." <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u> 26 (October 1977) 1:81-92.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Internal Migration and the Flight from the Land in the USSR, 1939-1959." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 17 (October 1966) 2:131-52.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Manpower in Soviet Agriculture: Some Post-Khrushchev Developments and Problems." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 20 (January 1969) 3:281-305.

IX. Capital and Technology

*Abouchar, Alan and Daniel Needles. "Custom Combing: A Neglected Opportunity for Soviet Agriculture." <u>Canadian Slavonic Papers</u> 17 (Spring 1975).

*Auburn, Shore and Brigitta Young. "Energy, Fertilizer and Grain Production in the USSR: Key Linkages." In <u>Soviet Economy in the</u> <u>1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2</u>, 141-70. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Batra, Raveend N. "Technological Change in the Soviet Collective Farm." The American Economic Review 64 (September 1974) 4:594-603.

*Clayton, Elizabeth. "Factor Endowment, Variable Proportions, and Agricultural Modernization: Regional Production Functions for Soviet Agriculture." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 161-72. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Conklin, D. W. "Barriers to Technological Change in the USSR: A Study of Chemical Fertilizers." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 20 (January 1969) 3:353-65.

Dovring, Folke. "Progress on Mechanization in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 259-75. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Dovring, Folke. "Capital Intensity in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Agricultural Policies in the USSR and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird, and R. D. Laird, 5-26. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

Durgin, Frank A. "Toward the Abolition of the RTS." <u>Soviet</u> Studies 12 (July 1960) 1:83-86.

Emel'ianov. A. "Technological Progress and Structural Change in Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 14 (1971) 4:3-24. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1971, no. 4.

*Hanson, Phillip. "The Impact of Western Technology: A Case Study of the Soviet Mineral Fertilizer Industry." In <u>CMEA Integration</u> <u>and East-West Trade</u>, edited by Paul Marer and J. Michael Montias. Bloomington, Ill.: 1981.

Humphrey, Arthur E. "Soviet Technology: The Case of Single Cell Protein." Survey 23 (Winter 1977-78) 1:81-86.

The Impact of Fertilizer on Soviet Grain Output, 1960-1980.

National Foreign Assessment Center, ER 77-1055. Washington, D.C.: National Foreign Assessment Center, 1977.

Kahan, Arcadius. "Shifts to Off-Farm Agricultural Inputs in the Tenth Economic Plan: The Economic and Institutional Implications." In <u>The Future of the Soviet Economy: 1978-1985</u>, edited by Holland Hunter, 9-25. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1978.

Poletaev, P. "Fixed Capital in Agriculture and Indices of the Effectiveness of Its Use." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 17 (1974) 1:22-33. Translated from Planovoye khozyaistvo, 1973, no. 8.

Rubenking, Earl M. "The Soviet Tractor Industry: Progress and Problems." In <u>Soviet Economy in a New Perspective</u>, 600-619. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

Semenov, V. N. "Technical Progress and the Problem of Dual Prices for Agricultural Machinery." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 3:63-79. Translated from Finansy SSSR, 1975, no. 4.

Structure and Accounting of Working Capital in the USSR. International Population Reports, ser. P-95, no. 70. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, Foreign Demographic Analysis Division, 1972.

*Treml, Vladimir G. "Subsidies in Soviet Agriculture: Record and Prospects." In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and</u> <u>Prospects: Part 2</u>, 171-85. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Walker, Frederick A. "Industrialization of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Studies on the Soviet Union</u> 11 (1971) 3:46-66.

X. Agriculture in the Soviet Economy: General Works, Agro-Industrial Integration, Food Storage and Processing, Transport

Ambartsumov, A. "On the Question of Equivalence in Exchange between Industry and Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 21 (1979) 12:39-45. Translated from <u>Ekonomicheskiye nauki</u>, 1978, no. 1.

Bobylev, S. "Agricultural Production and the Development of Infrastructure." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 21 (1979) 12:23-38. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1978, no. 6.

Bronshtein, M. "Economic and Social Problems in the Industrialization of Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 7:77-96. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1975, no. 8. *Clayton, Elizabeth. "Soviet Rural Roads: Problems and Prospects." Wharton Econometrics Soviet Transportation Resident Project, Working Paper #7. Available from the author at Department of Economics, University of Missouri, St. Louis, 63121.

Dementsev, V. V. "Associations in Agriculture and Finance." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1977) 11:24-49. Translated from <u>Finansy SSSR</u>, 1976, no. 6.

Driuchin, V. "Agriculture in the National Economic Balance." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1979) 7:25-36. Translated from <u>Vestnik statistiki</u>, 1979, no. 6.

Economic Performance and the Military Burden in the Soviet Union. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1970.

Eidel'man, M. "Methodological Problems in Defining a National Economic Agro-Industrial Complex." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 3:24-44. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1975, no. 4.

Kahan, Arcadius. "The Problems of the 'Agrarian-Industrial Complexes' in the Soviet Union." In Vol. 1 of <u>Economic Development</u> <u>in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe</u>, edited by Zbigniew M. Fallenbuchl, 205-22. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1975.

Kassirov, L. "The Effectiveness of the National Industrial Complex." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1979) 8:48-68. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1979, no. 2.

*Kerblay, Basile. "Soviet Agriculture Handicapped by the State of Rural Roads" (in French). <u>Revue d'études comparatives est-ouest</u> 14 (June 1983) 2.

*Litvin, Valentin. "Agro-Industrial Complexes: Recent Structural Reform in the Rural Economy of the USSR." In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> <u>Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 258-72. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

*Malish, Anton F. "The Food Program: A New Policy or More Rhetoric?" In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects,</u> <u>Part 2</u>, 41-59. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Miller, Robert F. "The Politics of Policy Implementation in the USSR: Soviet Policies on Agricultural Intergration under Brezhnev." Soviet Studies 33 (1980) 2:171-94.

Nikiforov, L. "Socioeconomic Problems in the Industrialization of Agricultural Production." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 3:3-23. Translated from <u>Ekonomicheskie nauki</u>, 1975, no. 3. Also in <u>The Soviet Review</u> 17 (1976) 3:77-97.

*Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. "The Soviet Feed Livestock Sector and the Meat Processing Industry." Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, March 1984.

Pospielovsky, Dimitry. "The 'Link System' in Soviet Agriculture." Soviet Studies 21 (1970) 4:411-35.

Sakoff, Alexander N. "Production Brigades: Organizational Basis of Farm Work in the USSR" <u>Monthly Bulletin of Agricultural</u> Economics and Statistics 17 (1968) 1:1-8.

Smetanin, N. "Agroindustrial Integration in the USSR." <u>Problems</u> of Economics 17 (1974) 8:46-64. Translated from <u>Voprosy ekonomiki</u>, 1974, no. 3.

*Smith, G. A. E. "The Industrial Problem of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Critique</u> 1981, no.14.

Trei, B. A., and L. A. Frolova. "Long-range Planning in the Development of the Agro-Industrial Complex of a Union Republic." <u>Matekon</u> 14 (1977/78) 3:22-38. Translated from <u>Ekonomika i</u> matematicheskie metody, 1977, no. 2.

XI. Socialist Farms

Ballard, Allen. "Sovkhoz Kuban." Survey 48 (July 1963): 66-78.

Ballard, Allen B., Jr., "Problems of State Farm Administration." Soviet Studies 17 (January 1966) 3:339-52.

Belov, Fedor. <u>The History of a Soviet Collective Farm</u>. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1955.

Bernstein, Thomas P. "The State and Collective Farming in the Soviet Union and China." In <u>Food, Policies, and Agricultural</u> <u>Development: Case Studies in the Public Policy of Rural Moderni-</u> <u>zation</u>, edited Raymond F. Hopkins, et al., 73-105. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1979.

Bonin, John P. "Work Incentives and Uncertainty on a Collective Farm." Journal of Comparative Economics 1 (1977) 1:77-97.

Bradley, Michael E. "Incentives and Labour Supply on Soviet Collective Farms." <u>The Canadian Journal of Economics</u> 4 (1971) 3:342-52. Bush, Keith. "The Third All-Union Congress of Kolkhozniks." Bulletin (Institute for the Study of the USSR) 17 (1970) 1:16-23.

Durgin, Frank A. "The Growth of Inter-Kolkhoz Cooperatives." Soviet Studies 12 (October 1960) 2:183-89.

Jasny, Naum. "Kolkhozy, the Achilles' Heel of the Soviet Regime." Soviet Studies 3 (October 1951) 2:183-89.

Kahan, A. "The Collective Farm System in Russia: Some Aspects of Its Contribution to Soviet Economic Development." In <u>Agriculture</u> <u>in Economic Development</u>, edited by C. Eicher and L. Witt, 251-71. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1964.

Kucherov, Alexander. "The Peasant." Problems of Communism 14 (1965) 2:98-104.

Laird, Roy D. <u>Collective Farming in Russia: A Political Study of</u> <u>the Soviet Kolkhoz</u>. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Publications, 1958.

Laird, Roy D. "The New Zveno Controversy." Osteuropa Wirtschaft 11 (1966) 4:254-61.

Laird, Roy D. "The Plusses and Minusses of State Agriculture in the USSR." In <u>The Political Economy of Collectivized Agriculture</u>. Edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird, and Roy D. Laird, 3-20. Elmsford, N.Y.: Pergamon, 1979.

Laird, Roy D., and Kenneth Beasley. "Soviet Tractor Stations. Policy Control by Auxiliary Services." <u>Public Administration</u> Review 20 (1960) 4:213-18.

Laird, Roy D., Darwin E. Sharp, and Ruth Sturtevant. <u>The Rise</u> and Fall of the MTS as an Instrument of Soviet Rule. Lawrence, Kans.: Governmental Research Center, 1960.

Laptev, O. "Rigorously Enforce the Laws on Collective Farm Democracy." <u>Soviet Law and Government</u> 13 (1974/75) 3:79-85. Translated from <u>Sotsialisticheskaia zakonnost'</u>, 1973, no. 12.

Maggs, Peter B. "The Law of Farm-Farmer Relations." In <u>The</u> <u>Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 139-56. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

McAuley, Alastair N. D. "Kolkhoz Problems in Recent Literary Magazines." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 15 (1963/64) 3:308-30.

Miller, Robert F. "A Good Kolkhoz." Survey 51 (April 1964): 32-43.

Miller, Robert F. "The Future of the Soviet Kolkhoz." <u>Problems</u> of Communism 25 (1976) 2:34-50.

Miyamoto, Katsuhiro. "A Mathematical Model of Kolkhoz." <u>Bulletin of University of Osaka Prefecture</u>. Series D: Economics 19 (1975): 27-32.

Oi, Walter Y., and Elizabeth M. Clayton. A Peasant's View of a Soviet Collective Farm." <u>The American Economic Review</u> 58 (1968) 1:37-59.

Pervushin, A. "The Length of Service of Collective-Farm Members and Its Legal Meaning." <u>Soviet Law and Government</u> 12 (1973) 2:85-93. Translated from <u>Sovetskaia Iustitsiia</u>, 1972, no. 14.

Reston, R. <u>Aftermath to Revolution: The Soviet Collective Farm</u>. London: Collier Macmillan, 1975.

Sakoff, A. N. "Soviet Agriculture and the New Model Constitution of the Kolkhoz." <u>Monthly Bulletin of Agricultural Economics and</u> <u>Statistics</u> 19 (1970): 1-9.

Stuart, Robert C. "Structural Change and the Quality of Soviet Collective Farm Management, 1952-1966." In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> <u>Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 121-38. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Stuart, Robert C. <u>The Collective Farm in Soviet Agriculture</u>. Lexington, Mass.: Heath & Co., 1972.

Stuart, Robert C. "The Changing Role of the Collective Farm in Soviet Agriculture." Canadian Slavonic Papers 16 (1974) 2:145-59.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Kolkhoz, Sovkhoz, and Private Production. In Agrarian Policies and Problems in Communist and Non-Communist <u>Countries</u>, edited by W. A. Douglas Jackson, 106-37. Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1971.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "The Soviet Kolkhoz: Vehicle of Cooperative Farming or of Control and Transfer of Resources?" <u>Cooperative</u> <u>and Commune</u>, edited by Peter Dorner, 95-116. Madison, Wis.: University of Wisconsin Press, 1977.

Zoerb, Carl R. "From the Promise of Land and Bread to the Reality of the State Farm." <u>Studies on the Soviet Union</u>. New Series 6 (1967) 4:89-107.

XII. The Private Sector

*Chandler, Clark. "The Effect of the Private Sector on the Labor Behavior of Soviet Collective Farmers."" In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> Economy, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 223-37. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Clayton, Elizabeth. "Notes on the Productivity of Soviet Private Agriculture." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> 21 (1979) 2:85-91.

DePauw, John W. "The Private Sector in Soviet Agriculture." Slavic Review 28 (1969) 1:63-71.

Jarvesoo, Elmar. "Private Enterprises in Soviet Agriculture in the 1970's." Journal of the Northeastern Agricultural Economics Council 3 (1974) 1:48-63.

Karcz, Jerzy F. <u>Appendix to Quantitative Analysis of the</u> <u>Collective Farm Market</u>. Santa Barbara, Calif.: 1963.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "Quantitative Analysis of the Collective Farm Market." The American Economic Review 54 (1964) 4, part I: 315-34.

*Lane, Ann. "USSR: Private Agriculture on Center Stage." In Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2, 23-40. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

Lovell, C. A. Knox. "The Role of Private Subsidiary Farming during the Soviet Seven-Year-Plan, 1959-65." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 20 (1968) 1:46-66.

Newth, J. A. "Soviet Agriculture: The Private Sector 1950-1959: Animal Husbandry." Soviet Studies 13 (1961) 2:160-71 and 4:414-32.

*Rumer, Boris. "The 'Second' Agriculture in the USSR." <u>Soviet</u> Studies 33 (October 1981) 4.

Sakoff, A. N. "The Private Sector in Soviet Agriculture." <u>Monthly Bulletin of Agricultural Economics and Statistics</u> 11 (1961) 9:1-12.

Severin, Barbara S. "USSR: The All-Union and Moscow Collective Farm Market Price Indexes." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> 21 (1979) 1:23-36.

Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. <u>The Private Sector in Soviet Agriculture</u>. 2nd ed., revised and enlarged, of <u>Privatproduzenten in der</u> <u>sowjetischen Landwirtschaft</u> (Cologne: 1967). Edited by Jerzy F. Karcz. Translated by Keith Bush. Berkeley and Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California Press, 1973.

Whitman, John T. "The Kolkhoz Market." Soviet Studies 7 (1955) 4:384-408.

*Wyzan, Michael L. "The Kolkhoz and the Sovkhoz: Relative Performance as Measured by Productive Technology." In <u>The Soviet</u> <u>Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 173-98. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

XIII. Directing Agriculture: Planning, Prices, Procurements, Administration

Bernstein, Thomas P. "Leadership and Mass Mobilization in the Soviet and Chinese Collectivization Campaigns of 1929-30 and 1955-56: A Comparison." China Quarterly 31 (1966/67) 2:98-101.

Bornstein, Morris. "The Soviet Debate on Agricultural Price and Procurement Reforms." Soviet Studies 21 (1969) 1:1-20.

Bornstein, Morris. "Soviet Price Policy in the 1970's." In <u>Soviet Economy in a New Perspective</u>, 17-66. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

Bornstein, Morris. "The Administration of the Soviet Price System." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 30 (1978) 4:466-90.

Boyev, V. "Pricing as a Tool for the Stimulation and Regional Distribution of Farm Production." <u>The Future of Agriculture:</u> <u>Papers and Reports, Fifteenth International Conference of</u> <u>Agricultural Economists</u>, 202-7. Oxford: Agricultural Economics Institute, 1974.

Braginskii, L. "On the Interaction of Economic Levers in Collective-Farm Management." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 14 (1971) 5:60-73. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1971, no. 3.

Conklin, David W. <u>An Evaluation of the Soviet Profit Reforms: With</u> <u>Special Reference to Agriculture</u>. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1970.

Durgin, Frank A. "Monetization and Policy in Soviet Agriculture since 1952." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 16 (1963) 4:375-404.

Em, V. "Transportation and Rental Relations in Agriculture." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 17 (1975) 9:74-80. Translated from Ekonomicheskie nauki, 1974, no. 5.

Gofman, K. G., I. M. Khrabrov, A. F. Gusev, and G. V. Pronin, "Optimal Land Management." <u>Matekon</u> 9 (1973) 3:71-88. Translated from Ekonomika i matematicheskie metody, 1971, no. 6.

Gray, Kenneth R. <u>The Efficient Location and Specialization of</u> <u>Soviet Agricultural Procurement</u>. Ph.D. diss., University of Wisconsin, 1976. Gray, Kenneth R. "Soviet Agricultural Specialization and Efficiency." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 31 (1979) 4:542-58.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "Soviet Agricultural Prices, Rent and Land Cadastres." Journal of Comparative Economics (March 1981).

Grushetskii, L. "The Stimulating Function of Purchase Prices." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1979) 7:70-79. Translated from Ekonomicheskie nauki, 1979, no. 5.

Gumerov, R. "Procurement Prices and the Stimulation of Agricultural Production." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1979) 6:23-40. Translated from Planovoe khozyaistvo, 1979, no. 3.

Iur'ev, V. "Stimulating the Growth of Procurement of Agricultural Output." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1979) 7:80-95. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1979, no. 5.

Jacobs, Everett M. "Recent Developments in Soviet Agricultural Planning." Jahrbuch der Wirtschaft Osteuropas--Yearbook of East European Economics 3 (1972): 303-25.

*Jacobs, Everett M. "Soviet Management and Planning and the 1982 Administrative Reforms." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 273-95. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

Jasny, Naum. "Production Costs and Prices in Soviet Agriculture." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 212-57.

Jensen, Robert G. "Regional Pricing and the Economic Evaluation of Land in Soviet Agriculture." <u>The Soviet Economy in New</u> <u>Perspective</u>, edited by V. N. Bandera and Y. L. Melnik, 305-27. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1973.

*Johnson, D. Gale. "Agricultural Organization and Management." In <u>The Soviet Economy: Toward the Year 2000</u>, edited by Abram Bergson and Herbert S. Levine, 112-42. London: George Allen & Unwin, 1983.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "Farm Marketing and State Procurements: Definitions and Interpretations." Soviet Studies 15 (1962) 2:152-66.

Karcz, Jerzy F. "Soviet Inspectorates for Agricultural Procurements." California Slavic Studies 3 (1964): 149-72.

Karnaukhova, E. "Some Problems in Measuring Differential Rent under Socialism." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1976) 7:48-64. Translated from Ekonomicheskie nauki, 1975, no. 9. Kassirov, L. "The Profitability of Socialist Agriculture (Methological Issues)." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 20 (1977) 6:55-74. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, no. 4, 1977.

Kochkarev, V. "The Role of Credit in Strengthening the Collective Farm Economy." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 22 (1977) 8:86-104. Translated from <u>Voprosy ekonomiki</u>, 1979, no. 7.

Krueger, Constance B. "A Note on the Size of Subsidies on Soviet Government Purchases of Agricultural Products." <u>The ACES</u> Bulletin 16 (1974) 2:63-69.

Laird, Roy D. "The Dilemma of Soviet Agricultural Administration: The Short Unhappy Life of the TPA." <u>Agricultural History</u> 40 (1966) 1:11-18.

Laird, Roy D. "Khrushchev's Administrative Reforms in Agriculture: An Appraisal." In <u>Soviet and East European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 29-50. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1967.

Lukinov, I. "The Methodology of Forming Prices of Farm Produce, History of Price Formation in the USSR." In <u>Policies, Planning</u> and <u>Management for Agricultural Development: Papers and Reports</u>, Fourteenth International Conference of Agricultural Economists, 239-52. Oxford: Institute for Agrarian Affairs, 1971.

Lysov, E. "An Important Factor in the Formation of Differential Rent." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 19 (1976) 7:65-76. Translated from <u>Ekonomicheskie nauki</u>, 1975, no. 9.

*Meiendorf, A. "Socially Necessary Expenses and Purchase Prices in Agriculture." <u>Problems of Communism</u> 25 (April 1983) 12. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1982, no. 3.

Mikhasiuk, I. "The Economic Evaluation of Land and the Improvement of Rental Relationships in the USSR." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 21 (1979) 10:65-78. Translated from <u>Ekonomicheskie nauki</u>, 1978, no. 7.

Millar, James R. "Financing the Modernization of Kolkhozy." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 276-303. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

Millar, James R. "Financial Innovation in Contemporary Soviet Agricultural Policy." Slavi<u>c Review</u> 32 (1973) 1:91-114.

Miller, Robert F. <u>One Hundred Thousand Tractors: The MTS and the</u> <u>Development of Controls in Soviet Agriculture</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1970. Miller, Robert F. "Continuity and Change in the Administration of Soviet Agriculture since Stalin." In <u>The Soviet Rural</u> <u>Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 73-102. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

*Monbrod, Timothy P. "The Problem of Soviet Agricultural Constraints and Potentialities." Chicago: University of Chicago, 1982.

Nimitz, Nancy. <u>Soviet Government Grain Procurements</u>, <u>Dispositions</u>, <u>and Stocks: 1940, 1945-1963</u>. Memorandum RM-4127-Pr, November 1964. Santa Monica, Calif.: The RAND Corporation, 1964.

Nove, Alec. "Incentives for Peasants and Administrators." In Soviet Agricultural and Peasant Affairs, edited by Roy D. Laird, 69-76. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963.

Nove, Alec. "Peasants and Officials." In <u>Soviet and East</u> <u>European Agriculture</u>, edited by Jerzy F. Karcz, 57-72. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1967.

Obolenski, K. P. "Agricultural Planning in the USSR." In <u>Economic Problems of Agriculture in Industrial Societies</u>, edited by Ugo Pappi and C. Nunn, 43-60. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1969.

Orlikovskaia, Iu. "Differential Rent and Its Realization in Collective Farm Production." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 18 (1975) 7:43-60.

Rumyantsev, A. M. "Planning Soviet Agriculture: Current Problems." In Policies, Planning and Management for Agricultural Development: Papers and Reports, Fourteenth International Conference of Agricultural Economists, 40-55. Oxford: Institute for Agrarian Affairs, 1971.

Rusinov, I. "Prospects in the Development of Planning of Agricultural Production." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 10 (1967) 5:25-32. Translated from <u>Planovoye khozyaistvo</u>, 1967, no. 3.

Schinke, Eberhard. "The Organization and Planning of Soviet Agriculture." <u>Agricultural Economics and Rural Sociology</u> <u>Abstracts</u> 12 (1970) 1:1-18.

Semenov, V. N. "The Financing of Agriculture." <u>Problems of</u> <u>Economics</u> 17 (1975) 10:69-88. Translated from <u>Finansy SSSR</u> 1974, no. 5.

Stuart, Robert C. "Managerial Incentives in Soviet Collective Agriculture during the Khrushchev Era." <u>Soviet Studies</u> 22 (1971) 4:539-55. Stuart, Robert C. "Aspects of Soviet Rural Development." Agricultural Administration 2 (1975): 165-78.

Swearer, Howard R. "Agricultural Administration under Khrushchev." In <u>Soviet Agricultural and Peasant Affairs</u>, edited by Roy D. Laird, 9-40. Lawrence, Kans.: University of Kansas Press, 1963. Cf. "Commentary" by J. F. Karcz. Ibid.: 41-50.

Treml, Vladimir. <u>Agricultural Subsidies in the Soviet Union</u>. Foreign Economic Report no. 15). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1978.

Yaney, George L. "Agricultural Administration in Russia from the Stolypin Land Reform to Forced Collectivization: An Interpretive Study." In <u>The Soviet Rural Community</u>, edited by James Millar, 3-35. Champaign, Ill.: University of Illinois Press, 1971.

*Yanov, Alexander. <u>The Drama of the Soviet 1960: A Lost Reform</u>. Berkeley: Institute of International Studies Research Series, no. 56. Berkeley, Calif.: Institute of International Studies, 1984. On the link system.

XIV. Food Supply and Consumption.

Checinski, Michael. <u>Agriculture and Nutrition in the USSR</u> <u>1940-45</u>. Radio Liberty Research Supplement, April 18, 1975. Munich: 1975.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "Soviet Consumption of Food: Is the Bottle Half-Full, Half-Empty, Half-Water or Too Expensive?" <u>Comparative</u> Economic Studies Bulletin 23 (Summer 1981) 2:31-50.

Kahan, Arcadius. "Natural Calamities and Their Effect upon the Food Supply in Russia." <u>Jahrbücher für Geschichte Osteuropas</u>. New series 16 (1968) 3:353-77.

Levin, A. "The Study of the Demand of the Population and Problems of Information." <u>Problems of Economics</u> 18 (1975) 1:3-23. Translated from Voprosy ekonomiki, 1974, no. 8.

*Markish, Yuri and Anton F. Malish. "The Soviet Food Program: Prospects for the 1980s." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> (Spring 1983).

*Schroeder, Gertrude. "Consumption in the USSR: An International Comparison." Study prepared for the use of the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. U.S. Government Printing Office: Washington, 1981.

Schroeder, Gertrude E., and Barbara S. Severin. "Soviet Consumption and Income Policies in Perspective." In <u>Soviet Economy in a New</u> Perspective, 620-60. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976.

Severin, Keith. "Soviet Policies on Agricultural Trade and the Consumer." In <u>Agricultural Policies in the USSR and Eastern</u> <u>Europe</u>, edited by R. A. Francisco, B. A. Laird, and R. D. Laird, 37-48. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1980.

Stuart, Robert C. <u>The Soviet Food Question</u>. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Information Agency, 1976.

Symons, Leslie. "Feeding the Soviet Union." <u>Contemporary Review</u> 228 (1976) 1321:57-63.

*Treml, Vladimir G. "Soviet Foreign Trade in Food Stuffs as Measured in Calories, 1970-1981." <u>Radio Liberty Research</u> 446/83, November 29, 1983.

*XV. Productivity

*Clayton, Elizabeth. "Productivity in Soviet Agriculture." <u>Slavic Review</u> 39 (September 1980) 3: 446-458.

*Durgin, Frank A, Jr. "The Inefficiency of Soviet Agriculture versus the Efficiency of U.S. Agriculture." <u>The ACES Bulletin</u> 10 (Fall-Winter 1978): 3-4.

*Wyzan, Michael L. "Empirical Analysis of Soviet Agricultural Production and Policy." <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> <u>Economics</u> 63 (August 1981) 3.

*XVI. Trade and Embargoes

*Abouchar, Alan. "The Case for the U.S. Grain Embargo." <u>The</u> World Today, July-August 1981.

*Anthony, Willis, Willard Cochran, Martin Christiansen, Reynold Dahl, Mary Ryan, and G. Edward Schuh. <u>The Partial Suspension of</u> <u>Grain Sales to the USSR: An Iterim Analysis</u>. St. Paul: University of Minnesota, 1980.

*Brada, Josef C. "The Soviet-American Grain Agreement and the National Interest." <u>American Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> 65 (November 1983) 4.

*Bryne, Angel O., James E. Cole, Thomas Brickerton, and Anton F. Malish. "U.S.-U.S.S.R. Grain Trade." In <u>Soviet Economy in the</u> <u>1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2</u>, 60-85. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*Conley, Dennis M., and Arvin R. Bunker. "Innovative Marketing Strategies in Soviet Bloc Economies." Illinois Agricultural Economics Staff Paper no. 81 E-188, August 1981.

Desai, Padma. Estimates of Soviet Grain Imports in 1980-85: <u>Alternative Approaches</u>. International Food Policy Research Institute, Research Report no. 22. Washington D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute, 1981.

East-West Agribusiness Trade. Available from Interflow, P.O. Box 42, Maple, NJ 07040.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "The U.S. Grain Embargo and the Soviet Livestock Sector in 1980." In <u>USSR Facts and Figures Annual</u>, vol. 5, edited by John L. Scherer, 181-91. Gulf Breeze, Fla: Academic International Press, 1981.

*Gray, Kenneth R. "Embargo and Agreement: An Interpretation." RSEEA Newsletter 5 (December 1983) 4.

*<u>Interflow: An East-West Trade News Monitor</u>. Available from Interflow, P.O. Box 42, Maple, NJ 07040.

*Kostecki, M. M. "Canada's Grain Trade with the Soviet Union and China." <u>Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> (July 30, 1982).

*Luttrell, Clifton B. "The Russian Grain Embargo: Dubious Success." <u>Federal Bank of St. Louis Review</u>, August/September 1980.

*Luttrell, Clifton B. "Grain Export Agreements: No Gains, No Losses." <u>Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review</u>. August/September 1981.

*Mustard, Allan P. <u>Impact of the U.S. Grain Embargo on World</u> <u>Grain Trading Patterns and Soviet Livestock Product Output</u>. Masters thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana.

*Paddock, Brian. "Estimation of Producer Losses Arising form the Partial Embargo of Grain Exports to the USSR." <u>Canadian Journal</u> of Agricultural Economics (July 31, 1983).

*Porter, Roger B. <u>The US-USSR Grain Agreement</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1984.

*<u>Report of the Inspector General on the Suspension of Agricultural</u> Exports to the USSR (1-1-80 to 4-24-81). Audit report no. 5099-1-FO. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office of Inspector General, November 1981, and supplement, July 1982.

*Roney, John C. "Grain Embargo Diplomatic Lever: A Case Study of the U.S.-Soviet Embargo of 1980-81. In <u>Soviet Economy in the</u> <u>1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part 2</u>, 124-40. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*Schoonover, David M. "Overview: Agriculture and the Grain Trade." In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects,</u> <u>Part 2</u>, 1-6. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*The U.S. Sales Suspension and Soviet Agriculture: An October Assessment. Supplement 1 to WAS-23. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Agriculture, Economics and Statistics Service.

*Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Soviet Agriculture's Dependence on the West." Foreign Affairs 64 (Spring 1982) 4.

*XVII. Quantitative Predictions

*Bond, Daniel L., and Donald W. Green. "Prospects for Soviet Agriculture in the Eleventh Five-Year Plan: Econometric Analysis and Projections." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 296-320. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

*Desai, Padma. "Soviet Grain and Wheat Import Demands in 1981-85." American Journal of Agricultural Economics 64 (May 1982) 2.

*Johnson, D. Gale. "Prospects of Soviet Agriculture in the 1980s." In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part</u> 2, 7-22. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*Laird, Roy D., J. Hajda, and Betty A. Laird, eds. <u>The Future of</u> <u>Agriculture in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe: The 1976-80</u> Five-Year Plans. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1977.

*Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. <u>Prospects</u> <u>for Soviet Agricultural Production in 1980 and 1985</u>. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1979.. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983. *Schoonover, David M. "Overview: Agriculture and the Grain Trade." In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects,</u> <u>Part 2</u>, 1-6. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*<u>The U.S. Sales Suspension and Soviet Agriculture: An October</u> <u>Assessment</u>. Supplement 1 to WAS-23. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Agriculture, Economics and Statistics Service.

*Wädekin, Karl-Eugen. "Soviet Agriculture's Dependence on the West." Foreign Affairs 64 (Spring 1982) 4.

*XVII. Quantitative Predictions

*Bond, Daniel L., and Donald W. Green. "Prospects for Soviet Agriculture in the Eleventh Five-Year Plan: Econometric Analysis and Projections." In <u>The Soviet Rural Economy</u>, edited by Robert C. Stuart, 296-320. Totowa, N.J.: Rowman & Allanheld, 1984.

*Desai, Padma. "Soviet Grain and Wheat Import Demands in 1981-85." American Journal of Agricultural Economics 64 (May 1982) 2.

*Johnson, D. Gale. "Prospects of Soviet Agriculture in the 1980s." In <u>Soviet Economy in the 1980s: Problems and Prospects, Part</u> 2, 7-22. A compendium of papers submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States. Washington D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1983.

*Laird, Roy D., J. Hajda, and Betty A. Laird, eds. <u>The Future of</u> <u>Agriculture in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe: The 1976-80</u> Five-Year Plans. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1977.

*Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. <u>Prospects</u> for Soviet Agricultural Production in 1980 and 1985. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1979.ion and Development. <u>Prospects for Soviet Agricultural Production in</u> 1980 and 1985. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 1979.